

Csepregi Alexander Krisztián

The role of classroom management in the formation of teachers' well-being

Bachelor's thesis FACULTY OF EDUCATION Intercultural Teacher Education, Degree Programme in Teaching and Education

2022

University of Oulu Faculty of Education The role of classroom management in the formation of teachers' well-being (Alexander Krisztián Csepregi) Bachelor's thesis, 38 pages, July 2022

Teacher well-being is essential not just for teachers themselves, but for every stakeholder in shools. If teachers experience their job positively and are satisfied with it, they will perform their day-to-day tasks better, will be less likely to leave the profession, and their students will be more likely to succeed academically. Given this tremendous importance of teacher well-being, understanding how it can be promoted is crucial for every stakeholder.

While there are many factors that comprise teacher well-being, this thesis will show that how teachers deal with classroom management is of primary significance to the formation of their well-being. If teachers can utilize effective classroom management strategies, they will experience their interactions with students much more positively, their students will perform better academically, and this will create a positive cycle that leads to better outcomes for both teachers and students.

This thesis is a literature review of previous research that was deemed relevant. First, different components and conceptualizations of teacher well-being will be explored. Then, how class-room management and teacher well-being are connected will be examined. Lastly, some effective classroom management strategies will be discussed.

Keywords: teacher well-being, job satisfaction, teacher emotions, classroom management, disruptive student behavior, classroom discipline

Contents

1	Introduction		4
2	Teacher well-being:		6
	2.1	Occupational well-being	
	2.2	The role of emotions in teacher well-being	
	2.3	The role of job demands and job resources in teacher well-being	9
	2.4	Job satisfaction	
	2.5	Well-being as a learning process	
	2.6	The importance of promoting teachers' well-being	
3	Teac	Teacher well-being and classroom management	
	3.1	Classroom management	
	3.1.1	Factors affecting classroom discipline	17
	3.1.2	The impact of classroom management on teacher well-being	
	3.2	Classroom management practices	
	3.2.1	Proactive and reactive classroom management practices	19
	3.2.2	Three evidence-based classroom management practices	20
4	Disc	Discussion	
	4.1	The findings of this thesis	
	4.2	Evaluation of the thesis and the writing process	
	4.3	Future research	
5	5 References :		

Introduction

Schools exist to carry out educational tasks and accomplish learning outcomes. Several stakeholders collaborate to these ends, and they all have a unique role to play in realizing these goals. However, how teachers carry out their job on a daily basis is arguably the most significant predictor of students' learning (Ingersoll & Collins, 2017; Stronge et al., 2011). Teachers' performance has a strong impact on students' "engagement, persistence, and commitment to learning" (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020, p. 641), which are all predictors of their academic success.

While teachers' day-to-day tasks are manifold and their interactions with students are diverse, teachers' classroom management practices are of particular significance in determining their students' success. In fact, "teachers' classroom management practices have a direct impact on their students' probability of success" (Gage et al., 2018, p. 302). Many studies have highlighted the crucial role that effective classroom management strategies play in predicting student achievement (Fidler, 2002; Stronge et al., 2007, 2011).

While teachers' most apparent role is to ensure their students academic success, there also exists a very significant affective side to education. As Soini et al. (2010) observe "in addition to the intended learning outcomes, the pedagogical processes within school communities can generate either feelings of engagement and empowerment and a sense of satisfaction or feelings of stress and anxiety for the participants of the processes" (736). Such experiences, which range from empowerment to anxiety, are at the core of teachers' well-being, which has been observed to greatly affect whether or not a school's educational goals will be realized (Soini et al., 2010). Furthermore, researchers have highlighted that teachers who experience high levels of job satisfaction perform their job better (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2014). Similarly, teachers who "are satisfied with their jobs and have a strong sense of psychological well-being" (J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020, p. 641) will raise students who are more likely to succeed academically than students of teachers with lower levels of job satisfaction. Additionally, teachers who are satisfied with their job have higher levels of motivation, enthusiasm, greater commitment to fulfilling the school's mission, as well as better mental health and an increased sense of self-efficacy (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020).

For these reasons, it is evident that teachers' job satisfaction and overall well-being largely determine the degree to which their students will succeed academically. Therefore, understanding what comprises teacher well-being and what leads to high levels of job satisfaction for teachers are essential for future teachers like myself, as well as school leadership, policy makers and teacher trainers.

In order to study this immensely important concept, the first research question of this thesis is:

1. How can teacher well-being be conceptualized?

Secondly, Soini et al. (2010) further assert that the teaching-learning processes which have the most significant determining factor on teachers' experienced well-being are the interactions "with pupils in socially and pedagogically challenging situations" (Soini et al., 2010, p. 735). Success or failure to cope with such occurrences largely predicts teachers' well-being. For this reason, the second research question the present thesis will seek to answer is:

2. What kind of classroom management strategies have the potential to improve teachers' well-being?

Due to the literature review nature of the present thesis, the aforementioned research questions will be answered based solely on select previous research that was deemed relevant, without any personal empirical research.

Teacher well-being:

2.1 Occupational well-being

Schools are complex communities in which different stakeholders interact with each other (Soini et al., 2010). Teachers interact not only with their pupils, but also with their pupils' parents, other teachers and the school administration. These day-to-day interactions teachers have with the people around them all shape the emotions they experience in the course of their work (Hagenauer et al., 2015) and thereby contribute to the formation of their well-being. For this reason, teacher well-being is a complex, multi-faceted concept, which Soini et al. (2010) claim could be more accurately referred to as teachers' occupational well-being. Teachers' occupational well-being incorporates their pedagogical well-being, workload, the quality and amount of resources available to them, as well as their relationships with school administration, colleagues, parents, and pupils (Soini et al., 2010). It is vital to acknowledge these different aspects of teachers' occupational well-being in order to recognize that teachers may feel competent in one area, while experience significant stress in another (Soini et al., 2010). In other words, the emotions teachers experience in their work may vary from context to context (Hagenauer et al., 2015). For example, interactions with colleagues may be rewarding, leading to positive emotions, while classroom disruptions may make the teacher feel inadequate and experience negative emotions. At the same time, it is worth noting that teachers' well-being in one area of their occupational well-being can affect other areas. For instance, a high sense of pedagogical wellbeing stemming from rewarding student-teacher relationships can help teachers cope with conflicts with their colleagues. However, teachers' interactions with other members of the school community in difficult situations are of particular significance to their well-being, as these interactions can influence the kind of feedback teachers receive (Soini et al., 2010). This feedback will then influence teachers' self-evaluation, which in turn will affect their future practice (Soini et al., 2010). This practice-feedback-self-evaluation-practice loop can easily lead to a positive or negative cycle of experienced well-being.

In the present study, teachers' interactions with pupils will be the most closely examined aspect of teachers' occupational well-being. While in reality it is difficult to isolate teacher-student interactions from other aspects of teachers' well-being, it is necessary to do so for the present study. Even though every aspect of teachers' occupational well-being plays an important role in how teachers experience their day-to-day work, several studies have shown that teacher-

6

student interactions are the most emotionally charged arena of teachers' daily work (Demetriou et al., 2009; O'Connor, 2008; Sutton, 2007; Sutton & Wheatley, 2003). For this reason, teacherstudent interactions arguably play the most formational role in teachers' occupational well-being.

Examining teacher-student interactions means that this study will focus mostly on what Soini et al. (2010) refer to as the pedagogical well-being component of teachers' occupational wellbeing. They define pedagogical well-being as "a sense of autonomy, relatedness, competence, and belonging" (Soini et al., 2010, p. 737). It is interesting to note that those precise feelings, with the exception of belonging, have been noted as fundamental human needs (Deci & Ryan, 1985). Be that as it may, when it comes to teachers, those feelings are shaped by the day-to-day tasks teachers have to carry out to perform their work, which include lesson planning, instruction, interacting with students, assessment and self-development (Soini et al., 2010). Noticeably, none of these tasks directly focuses on ensuring teachers experience high levels of well-being. Thus, teachers' pedagogical well-being tends to be "an unintended by-product of pedagogical processes and school practices" (Soini et al., 2010, p. 737). These pedagogical processes and school practices create successive cycles of positive or negative experiences for teachers, which ideally lead to a sense of empowerment and engagement (Soini et al., 2010). Unfortunately, however, sometimes the end result is a sense of frustration and even burnout for teachers (Soini et al., 2010).

Whether teachers will experience a sense of empowerment and engagement or a sense of frustration and burnout is primarily determined by their interactions with students in socially or academically difficult situations (Soini et al., 2010). The way teachers respond to these challenging situations with students can mitigate or exacerbate the negative impact of such situations to their well-being (Soini et al., 2010). For this reason, teachers' knowledge of effective classroom management strategies is crucial not only to their pedagogical well-being, and in turn to their occupational well-being, but also to the overall success of their instruction. This is one of the reasons why classroom management will be explored further in following sections of this thesis.

To summarize this section, teachers' occupational well-being has several components, one of which is pedagogical well-being. Pedagogical well-being can be understood as the degree to which teachers experience a sense of belonging, relatedness, autonomy and competence in their daily work (Soini et al., 2010).

2.2 The role of emotions in teacher well-being

Another way to explore teacher well-being is to study the emotions teachers experience during their work (Hagenauer et al., 2015), particularly during their interactions with students, as those situations significantly predict their overall well-being (Soini et al., 2010). This approach is grounded in the observation that teaching is itself an emotional enterprise (Hargreaves, 1998, 2000). Furthermore, teachers' emotions are closely related to their overall well-being (Ha-genauer et al., 2015).

Including teacher emotions in the present discussion about teacher well-being is of particular relevance to this study, since student behavior in the classroom (which is closely related to classroom management) has been found to strongly impact teacher emotions (Hagenauer et al., 2015). More specifically, students' discipline and engagement are significant predictors of teacher joy, anxiety and anger (Chang, 2013; Hagenauer et al., 2015; Tsouloupas et al., 2010).

Teachers have various instructional goals and as they seek to accomplish them in the classroom, they observe their students' behavior, whether it is goal congruent or disruptive, and then evaluate the teaching-learning process accordingly (Hagenauer et al., 2015). If the students' behavior positively affects the learning process, teachers will experience positive emotions (such as joy and fulfillment), leading to improved overall well-being (Hagenauer et al., 2015). However, when students engage in disruptive behaviors, they threaten the realization of the teachers' goals (Chang & Davis, 2011), and thus arouse negative emotions (Hagenauer et al., 2015). For instance, several studies have discovered that teachers' experiences of anger are not self-directed, but instead are caused by their students, especially by students engaging in disruptive behaviors or showing low levels of interest in the instruction (Hagenauer et al., 2015; Liljestrom et al., 2007; Sutton, 2007).

Hagenauer et al. (2015) also explore the quality of interpersonal teacher-student relationships as it relates to teachers' emotions. High quality personal relationships are a basic component of subjective well-being (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). Hagenauer et al. (2015) found that the better the interpersonal student-teacher relationships were, the more positive emotions (joy), and the less negative emotions (anger, anxiety) teachers experienced. This finding has been confirmed by other researchers, who have observed that positive and rewarding relationships with students help teachers develop the resilience they need to deal with the challenges of their profession (Day & Gu, 2014).

When teachers experience more positive emotions, the "emotional contagion" (Fischer, 2007) effect has been observed to lead to reciprocal experiences of positive emotions for the students (Becker et al., 2014; Frenzel et al., 2009). Therefore, besides being essential for teachers' well-being, teacher emotions influence students' emotions and can thus impact their academic achievement (Hagenauer et al., 2015).

2.3 The role of job demands and job resources in teacher well-being

A third way of exploring teachers' well-being is to consider their job demands and resources (Simbula et al., 2012). The strength of such an approach is that it considers both the factors which improve teachers' well-being (referred to as job resources) and the factors which diminish teachers' well-being (referred to as job demands). This is crucial because research has shown that the teaching profession has two seemingly opposite aspects. On one hand, teachers experience more stress than those in other professions (Dorman, 2003; Stoeber & Rennert, 2008). Some sources of stress recognized by the literature are inequity (van Horn et al., 1999), the role ambiguity of being a teacher (Simbula et al., 2012), lack of opportunities for promotion and professional development, and low salaries (Kyriacou, 2001). On the other hand, many teachers are enthusiastic about and engaged with their job and are able to contribute to their organizations positively (Hakanen et al., 2006; Roth et al., 2007). Some resources that help teachers cope with stress and experience their job so positively are professional development and participation in social support systems (Simbula et al., 2012). To study job demands and resources together and understand their interplay, Demerouti et al. (2001) designed the Job Demands-Resources Model. While this is a general model which wasn't specifically designed for the teaching profession, Simbula et al. (2012) have already shown that it can be applied to teachers. Soini et al. (2010) also include the quality and quantity of resources available to teachers as one aspect of what they define as occupational well-being.

The Job Demands-Resources Model is founded on two basic assumptions. The first of these is that every job has risk factors leading to stress and these factors can be grouped into two categories: job demands and job resources (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). According to Demerouti et al. (2001), every aspect of a job that requires workers to exert physical or mental efforts for prolonged periods of time, whether the factors be physical, social, or organizational, can cause workers to feel overwhelmed and thus are considered job demands. On the other hand, job resources are those aspects of a job which help alleviate the physiological and physical strain

associated with job demands (Bakker, 2011). This can be done either through internally motivating workers for professional development or through externally motivating workers to meet work-related goals (Bakker, 2011). In the context of this study, classroom management and disruptive student behavior can be considered job demands, whereas rewarding student-teacher relationships can be viewed as a job resource. The second fundamental assumption of the Job Demands-Resources Model is that stressful and motivating aspects of a job combine to create positive (engagement) or negative (burnout) experiences of well-being (Bakker & Derks, 2010). Plentiful job resources can help workers cope with even high job demands and experience engagement instead of feeling overwhelmed (Bakker et al., 2003). For instance, in one study of Finnish teachers, the following three job resources helped teachers sustain high levels of work engagement even in the face of substantial levels of disruptive behavior from pupils: support from the administration, teachers' ability to innovate and a positive organizational climate (Bakker et al., 2007).

To utilize the Job Demands-Resources Model, researchers first have to identify job demands and job resources they wish to investigate, and then by measuring how strongly teachers experience each of them, researchers can map teachers' overall well-being into four categories. The first of these four categories is characterized by high job demands and high job resources, which will cause teachers to experience engagement (Bakker & Derks, 2010). The study of Finnish teachers carried out by Bakker and his colleagues (2007) mentioned above exemplifies this state of affairs in teachers' work. In the second category, an interplay of high job demands and low job resources leads to the greatest likelihood of teachers experiencing burnout (Bakker & Derks, 2010; Xanthopoulou et al., 2007). Thirdly, a combination of low job demands and high job resources leads to teacher boredom (Bakker & Derks, 2010). Lastly, low job demands combined with low job resources causes teachers to experience apathy (Bakker & Derks, 2010).

Simbula et al. (2012) tested the Job Demands-Resources Model (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007) with the job demands of inequity and role ambiguity and the job resources of opportunity for professional development and colleague support. For their sample, only three clusters emerged instead of the four proposed by Bakker & Derks (2010). Similarly to Bakker & Derks (2010), the cluster with a high level of job demands and a high level of job resources (which they named Resourceful) was characterized by the most work engagement and the most positive characteristics (Simbula et al., 2012). The second cluster, which was characterized by high job demands and low job resources (which they named Stressed) experienced the highest levels of stress and

teachers in this cluster felt inadequate to deal with job demands (Simbula et al., 2012). Interestingly, for their sample of Italian teachers, the combination of low demands and high resources (which they named Wealthy) didn't result in teachers experiencing boredom, as theorized by Bakker & Derks (2010). Instead, teachers in the Wealthy cluster were similar to those in the Resourceful cluster in almost every category (Simbula et al., 2012). For this reason, the researchers concluded that for their sample, both the combination of high job demands and high job resources and the combination of low job demands and high job resources resulted in healthy states of being (Simbula et al., 2012). This finding underscores the tremendous importance of job resources as a dimension of teacher well-being.

2.4 Job satisfaction

Teachers' job satisfaction has been observed to be closely connected to their well-being (Shoshani & Eldor, 2016). This is not surprising as it appears reasonable to assume that teachers who experience high levels of occupational well-being, experience positive emotions during their work and find their job engaging, simultaneously experience high levels of job satisfaction. For this reason, exploring the concept of job satisfaction, specifically as it relates to teachers, can expand the present discussion in a beneficial way.

To begin with, it is helpful to clarify what is meant by job satisfaction. According to Lopes & Oliveira (2020) "job satisfaction refers to how much a person enjoys the conditions in which they carry out their professional activity" (p. 643). Furthermore, people with high levels of job satisfaction consider their job rewarding and have a sense that it allows them to achieve their personal goals (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020). Pepe et al. (2017) highlight two perspectives on teachers' job satisfaction: one focusing more on the personal level of teaching, and the other more on the social context of teaching. The former perspective considers the teachers' culture, self-efficacy, inter-personal relationships and levels of motivation, while the latter examines the school leadership, organizational structures and the monetary aspects of teaching (Pepe et al., 2017). While these two perspectives might be helpful in categorizing and grouping the different constituents of teachers' job satisfaction, Lopes & Oliveira (2020) underscore the need for a multi-level perspective, which can account for factors from both of the aforementioned perspectives, and thus accurately and holistically measure teachers' job satisfaction. They point to Wang et al. (2020), who studied the results of the Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS) conducted by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) in 2013

with a multilevel perspective and found that in the United States "the percentage of low achievers in the classroom, classroom behaviour problems, classroom disciplinary climate, socioeconomic status (SES), school location, principal job satisfaction, school autonomy for instruction, participation among stakeholders, experience, teacher self-efficacy, teacher-student relationships, teacher cooperation, and effective professional development are all predictors of teacher job satisfaction" (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020, p. 644). Of these predictors, Wang and colleagues (2020) highlighted the disciplinary climate of the classroom, the participation of different stakeholders and teacher-student relationships as highly significant predictors of teacher job satisfaction.

Meanwhile, in a sample of Portuguese lower secondary education teachers, Lopes & Oliveira (2020) found that "teacher-level variables are better predictors of teacher job satisfaction than school-level variables" (p. 641). Furthermore, they discovered that teachers' interpersonal relationships were the strongest predictors of teachers' job satisfaction. Thus, the findings of Lopes & Oliveira (2020) and Wang et al. (2020) are somewhat different, although there is some overlap. The participation of different stakeholders, the disciplinary climate, and teacher-student relationships in particular highlighted by Wang et al. (2020) could be thought of as teachers' interpersonal relationships. Nonetheless, the discrepancies in different samples are to be expected, as even Lopes & Oliveira (2020) emphasize the difficulty of comparing the factors impacting teachers' job satisfaction from country to country. Additionally, Zieger et al. (2019) emphasize that even when an international test such as TALIS is conducted, it remains extremely difficult and statistically problematic to compare the results of teacher job satisfaction findings between different countries. Thus, the findings of this this might not apply to every context and would have to be verified by empirical research in different contexts.

A lot of studies about teacher job satisfaction were motivated by concerning trends in teacher turnover and attrition, which are major concerns in many OECD member states (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020). One of the primary causes of teacher attrition is the difficulty of maintaining classroom discipline (Beaman & Wheldall, 2000). This corresponds to the other studies that highlight classroom management and teacher-student relationships as significant predictors of teachers' job satisfaction (J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Thus, improving teachers' classroom management skills, which will contribute to better teacher-student relationships, is of particular importance to increasing teachers' job satisfaction and thereby decreasing teacher turnover and attrition.

2.5 Well-being as a learning process

Since the teaching-learning processes greatly vary and constantly change, teacher well-being is always in a state of flux. For this reason, Soini et al. (2010) describe the formation of wellbeing as a "learning process" (p. 736). They state that this learning process is collaborative and all of the members of the school community play an active role in it, not just teachers. Ideally, this learning process will foster teachers' sense of relatedness, competence, autonomy, ultimately resulting in a sense of empowerment and engagement (Soini et al., 2010). Interactions which promote teachers' "satisfaction, engagement, and empowerment" (Soini et al., 2010, p. 738) are characterized by agency, in which teachers feel like they are active learners and have a "sense of coherence, meaningfulness, and belonging" (p. 738). On the other hand, "lack of professional efficacy, feelings of alienation, and inequality are all typical of the interactions that undermine the construction of pedagogical well-being" (p. 738). In other words, teachers' "experienced professional relationships (including relationships with pupils), belonging to the professional community, professional self-efficacy and perceived control and agency over one's professional action" (Soini et al., 2010, p. 737) will enhance teachers' sense of empowerment and engagement. But, perhaps most importantly to the present study, Soini et al. (2010) claim that teachers' interactions "with pupils in socially and pedagogically challenging situations" (Soini et al., 2010, p. 735) have the most significant determining factor on teachers' experienced well-being. Success or failure to cope with such occurrences largely predicts teachers' wellbeing. Subsequently, how teachers deal with classroom discipline will greatly impact their overall pedagogical, as well as occupational well-being.

2.6 The importance of promoting teachers' well-being

Teachers experiences the highest levels of job stress compared to other professionals (Stoeber & Rennert, 2008). Some of the causes of such high levels of stress are the heavy workload, pupils' academic challenges and disruptive behavior, friction with fellow teachers, inadequate resources, not getting paid well and conflicts with parents (Santavirta et al., 2007).

Promoting teachers' well-being is essential for schools to accomplish their educational goals (Soini et al., 2010). If teachers are to succeed pedagogically and have the ability to improve their future practice, they must have a sense of engagement and empowerment (Soini et al., 2010). Teachers who have a high sense of well-being are more likely to meet educational ex-

pectations placed on them by administration, policy makers, parents, and society at large. Similarly, job satisfaction, which is intertwined with teachers' well-being (Shoshani & Eldor, 2016), has been highlighted as "an essential factor for teachers' and school effectiveness and students' academic and educational achievement" (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020, p. 641).

As already noted earlier, teacher's emotions play a significant role in their well-being (Hagenauer et al., 2015) and they impact how they carry out their tasks as teachers, for example, how they grade students (Brackett et al., 2013). Furthermore, teachers who experience more positive emotions and subsequently have higher levels of well-being are more capable of improving their teaching practice and implementing techniques and strategies that serve the best interest of their pupils (Soini et al., 2010). For example, teachers who experience more positive emotions have been shown to have a greater propensity to designing student-centered learning activities, which result in increased student engagement (Postareff & Lindblom-Ylänne, 2011; Trigwell, 2012).

On the contrary, "if teaching is experienced negatively in many situations, teachers run the risk of being alienated from students, which may decrease teaching quality, deteriorate the teacherstudent relationship further and enhance the likelihood of developing burnout symptoms" (Hagenauer et al., 2015, pp. 395-396). One of the primary causes of teachers' negative experiences is disruptive student behavior, which has been found to impact teacher stress, well-being and confidence (Lewis et al., 2005). Stress is "a state of anxiety produced when events and responsibilities exceed one's coping abilities" (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008, p. 694). Unsurprisingly, teacher stress has been observed to negatively impact the teacher's mental and physical wellbeing (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). Student misbehavior is one of the factors causing stress for teachers in Britain found that disruptive student behavior was among the two most signific ant sources of stress, along with work pressure (Griffith et al., 1999). Additionally, in a survey of 100 British primary and secondary school teachers, disrespectful student behavior was found to cause emotional exhaustion in teachers and more severe misbehavior lead to teacher burnout (Hastings & Bham, 2003).

For these reasons, one of the essential ways of promoting teachers' well-being is through equipping them to deal with disruptive student behavior effectively. Job resources have already been shown to significantly contribute to teachers' well being, and as noted earlier, professional development is a critical resource. Professional development in the area of classroom management might be an exceptionally valuable job resource, given the substantial amount of stress resulting from teachers' inadequate skills to deal with misbehaving students (Simbula et al., 2012). As the rest of this thesis will show, there are classroom management strategies which have been well attested to by the literature and thus their use should be advocated.

Teacher well-being and classroom management

This section of the thesis will seek to provide some answers to the second research question, namely 'What kind of classroom management strategies have the potential to improve teachers' well-being?'

Answering this question is vitally important, because teachers report that the behaviors which cause them the most frustration and which are the most challenging to deal with are disruptions, noncompliance, and disengagement (Alter et al., 2013).

Furthermore, there is a strong link between interpersonal teacher-student relationships and teacher emotions (Hagenauer et al., 2015). More specifically, rewarding and successful interactions with students have a strong connection to positive emotions for teachers (Hargreaves, 2000). For instance, discipline in the classroom has been shown to lead to teacher enjoyment (Frenzel et al., 2011). On the contrary, when there is a lack of discipline in the classroom, teachers tend to experience more negative emotions, such as anger, frustration and anxiety (Hagenauer et al., 2015; Sutton, 2007), increased stress (McCarthy et al., 2015) and less enthusias m (Kunter et al., 2011), which result in a higher risk of burnout over time (Tsouloupas et al., 2010). Thus, classroom management strategies which support the formation of positive teacher-student relationships are tantamount to teachers' emotional well-being (Hagenauer et al., 2015).

3.1 Classroom management

As this thesis begins to delve deeper into classroom management, it is helpful to clarify what is meant by this term. One way of conceptualizing classroom management is in terms of classroom disciplinary climate, which "refers to the teacher's perceived ability to control classroom order and/or classroom disruption" (Lopes & Oliveira, 2020, p. 647). In turn, classroom order has been shown to have four components (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). These are (1) the compatibility of the physical features of the classroom and the activities undertaken, (2) clearly defined rules and expectations for students' behavior in the classroom (3) establishing routines that allow students to perform activities in a self-regulated manner, without the teacher having to reiterate expectations and rules (4) ensuring the success of classroom processes through monitoring students, progressing at a speed appropriate for the students, organizing collaboration between students and handling transitions well (J. Lopes et al., 2017; J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021; Simonsen et al., 2008). If teachers succeed in managing order in the classroom in these

four ways, they will be able to prevent a lot of disruptive behavior and will create an environment that is conducive to learning (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021).

3.1.1 Factors affecting classroom discipline

The variables which impact and predict students' behavior in the classroom are manifold and diverse (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). These factors extend from micro-level variables such as the classroom as a learning environment, the school culture, and the neighborhood where the school is located, and extend all the way to macro-level social structures, such as the government, due to how policies shape the educational system of a region (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021) as well as culture (Lewis et al., 2008). Another way to group these variables is to separate them into in-school variables and out-of-school variables (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). Generally, the effects of the macro-level variables are mediated by the more immediate ones (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). For example, the effects of culture on classroom discipline are mitigated by the school culture, the school climate and the school ethos (Glover & Coleman, 2005; Seashore Louis & Lee, 2016). Furthermore, J. A. Lopes & Oliveira (2021) found that classroom-level variables are more significant than school-level variables in predicting the classroom disciplinary climate. Nevertheless, the interplay between macro-level and micro-level variables is also noteworthy. For instance, J. A. Lopes & Oliveira (2021) observe that in Portugal, government policies are looked at as the solution to disciplinary problems in the classroom due to widely held notions in society about the loss of parental and teacher authority. While these circumstances may be unique to Portugal, it is important to note that the aforementioned factors impacting classroom discipline can interact in various ways depending on the larger, societal context.

Those factors predicting classroom discipline which can be thought of as in-school variables can be further divided into three categories, which are classroom student-related variables, classroom teacher-related variables and organizational variables (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). Of these three, student-related variables, especially academic success, have been highlighted as the most significant predictors of classroom behavior (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). The trend which seems to emerge from research is that underachievement and disruptive behaviors mutually reinforce each other and thus can lead to a vicious cycle of disengagement from instruction and troubling behavior (Archambault et al., 2017; Collins et al., 2016; J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). For instance, in a multilevel analysis of data from TALIS 2013, J. A. Lopes &

Oliveira (2021) found that the percentage of low achievers in the classroom had the highest impact on the disciplinary climate. Therefore, teachers' instruction is instrumental to their classroom management, because by keeping their students engaged with their teaching, they can lower the likelihood of their students engaging in disruptive behaviors (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). This is a crucial point, because instruction emerges as more important than prevention and prediction, even though teachers tend to focus more on behavior management than on the quality of their instruction (Kayikçi, 2011; Riley et al., 2012). The second set of variables affecting classroom discipline in-school are classroom teacher-related (J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). These variables have been found to account for 84% of the variance in classroom disciplinary climate, whereas more macro-level variables such as the school and the country only accounted for 7% and 8% respectively (OECD, 2014). Research suggests that older teachers, who have had more than 10 years of experience, and who received pre-service and/or in-service training on classroom management tend to report less incidents of disruptive behaviors and are better at both predicting and managing inappropriate student behaviors (Berger et al., 2018; Sadik & Akbulut, 2015; Scheerens & Blömeke, 2016; Wolff et al., 2015). Thirdly, organizational variables also influence discipline in the classroom (Fatou & Kubiszewski, 2018; J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021). Researchers have highlighted the following aspects of organizational variables, sometimes referred to as school climate: physical features of the school building and the classrooms, school leadership, school structures (norms, rules, expectations), relationships among stakeholders at the school, individuals' sense of belonging and discipline, and safety (both inside the school and in the general vicinity of the school) (Aldridge et al., 2018; Chirkina & Khavenson, 2018; Ruiz et al., 2018; Sulak, 2018).

3.1.2 The impact of classroom management on teacher well-being

Having gained an understanding of teacher well-being and classroom management in earlier sections of this thesis, this section will focus on the ways in which classroom management affects teachers' well-being. As already noted earlier, teaching is a very demanding profession and teachers can experience a lot of stress (Wettstein et al., 2021). Much of this stress comes from psycho-social aspects of teaching, such as classroom management and teacher-student relationships (Friedman, 2006). Furthermore, classroom disruptions are among the primary causes of strain, stress, and exhaustion for teachers (Emmer & Stough, 2001; Evers et al., 2004). Particularly high levels of stress are experienced by teachers when they feel inadequate to deal with classroom disruptions (Evers et al., 2004). While coping strategies help teachers deal with

stress (Wettstein et al., 2021), if they are ineffective (like denial and distancing oneself from the problem) teachers risk developing feelings of burnout (Kokkinos, 2007).

3.2 Classroom management practices

Having examined the adverse affects classroom indiscipline can have on teachers when not handled well, exploring effective classroom management strategies will be the focus of this section of the thesis. Solid classroom management strategies have extraordinary importance in preventing the disruptions which can be so devastating to teachers' well-being (Wettstein et al., 2021). Thus, studying strategies that have been researched and found to be effective is of paramount importance.

3.2.1 Proactive and reactive classroom management practices

Classroom management practices can be grouped into two broad categories: proactive strategies and reactive strategies (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). Proactive strategies refer to those preemptive practices teachers utilize to prevent or mitigate undesired student behaviors, usually by trying to change the situation before the behavior would reach a critical level (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). Some examples of proactive strategies are praising appropriate or desired behavior and establishing rules in advance (Little et al., 2002; Safran & Oswald, 2003). Such proactive strategies place a greater emphasis on providing positive responses to displays of desired behavior (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). On the other hand, reactive strategies are employed in reaction to inappropriate student behavior once it has already occurred. For instance, teachers may administer appropriate consequences for the undesired behavior (Little et al., 2002; Safran & Oswald, 2003). Such reactive strategies are more remedial in nature, and thus involve more negative and corrective responses (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). Briefly stated, proactive strategies focus on positively reinforcing desired behaviors, while reactive strategies focus on correcting undesired behaviors. Thus, employing more proactive strategies will decrease time spent reprimanding students (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008).

Proactive strategies, such as praise, can improve the atmosphere in the classroom, improve student learning and help students stay on task (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). Furthermore, these strategies have been claimed to mitigate most disruptive behaviors, enhance student engagement with curriculum content and productive activities (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). As a result,

19

proactive classroom management strategies can help reduce teacher stress and thereby improve teachers' overall well-being (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008).

In their study of 97 teachers, across 21 schools in Australia, Clunies-Ross et al. (2008) found that teachers' use of reactive classroom management strategies correlated with higher levels of workload stress, student misbehavior stress, time/resource difficulties stress, and poor colleague stress. Thus, employing reactive classroom management strategies predicted diminished teacher well-being. However, interestingly enough, the use of more proactive classroom management strategies didn't predict lower levels of stress in teachers (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). At the same time, the use of more reactive classroom management strategies was connected to diminished time spent on task. Meanwhile, the use of more proactive classroom management didn't have any significant connection to student behavior (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008).

Unfortunately, however, in spite of the evidence for the positive effects of proactive disciplinary strategies, some research suggests that teachers employ classroom management practices which are not as well attested to by the literature (Infantino & Little, 2005).

3.2.2 Three evidence-based classroom management practices

Gage et al. (2018) contend that the best way to identify classroom management practices that lead to student success is to first pinpoint student behaviors which are characteristic of success in the classroom and then find those classroom management practices which promote those positive student behaviors. In their analysis, the quintessential student behavior which marks success is engagement. Other studies have further highlighted that the higher the level, the greater the intensity, the longer the duration of student engagement, the greater the likelihood of student success (Downer et al., 2007).

On the other hand, Gage et al. (2018) indicate that there is one particular behavior which characterizes students' failure in the classroom, namely displaying disruptive behavior. They define disruptive behavior as "more than simple disengagement in that it involves behaviors that draw the focus of the teacher, and perhaps the entire classroom, away from instruction or expected tasks" Gage et al., 2018, p. 303). Not only is it challenging for teachers to respond to disruptive behaviors (Westling, 2010), students who display such behaviors tend to fall behind academically (Nelson et al., 2004; Wagner et al., 2005) and not receive as much instructional and teaching time as students who do not display disruptive behaviors (Sutherland et al., 2008). Having identified the two behaviors that best predict student success (engagement) or failure (disruptive behavior), Gage et al. (2018) highlight three classroom management strategies that enhance engagement and mitigate disruptive behavior. These are active teaching, providing opportunities for students to respond, and giving feedback to students. Gage et al. (2018) claim that these three classroom management strategies have been identified as being the most effective practices in over 50 years worth of literature. They define active teaching as "the teacher engaging in behaviors that include explaining a concept, demonstrating a principle, or modeling a skill/activity associated with an academic topic while furthering the lesson/objective of the class" (Gage et al., 2018, p. 303). Several researchers have shown that the more a teacher incorporates these activities into their lessons, the more engaged their students will be (Pianta et al., 2012; Williford et al., 2013). Similarly to active teaching, actively supervising students while they work in groups or independently has also been observed to lead to less disruptive behaviors (Haydon & Kroeger, 2016). Secondly, giving students opportunities to respond (OTR) can be more elaborately explained as "[c]urriculum-related prompts that the teacher provides to either the whole class, a group of students, or an individual student" (Gage et al., 2018, p. 303). Research has shown that when teachers utilize OTR, students are more likely to succeed in the classroom (Kern & Clemens, 2007; MacSuga-Gage & Gage, 2015; Partin et al., 2009). More specifically, three to five OTR per minute have been shown to improve student engagement (Haydon et al., 2010; Macsuga-Gage & Simonsen, 2015; Sutherland et al., 2003). Thirdly, Gage et al. (2018) understand feedback to students as "the provision of positive performance feedback to students, including both verbal and gestural feedback for student academic and social behavior" (p. 304). They assert that "[p]ositive feedback has been associated with improving student outcomes including increased academic engagement and decreased disruptive behaviors" (p. 304). In addition to positive feedback, Gage et al. (2018) remark that teachers need not shy away from negative feedback altogether. What teachers need to keep in mind when giving students negative feedback, claim Gage et al. (2018), is that reprimanding students is more likely to lead to negative behavioral outcomes and that if such feedback continues, it is more indicative of failed instruction, than of the students' behavioral issues. Instead of reprimanding students, re-teaching is a form of negative feedback which leads to positive student outcomes (Nelson & Roberts, 2000).

In the end, Gage et al. (2018) acknowledge that the three classroom management strategies discussed above are only some of the many ways of managing a classroom. For instance,

Conroy et al., (2014) have highlighted the following classroom management practices as predictors of higher levels student achievement: effective time management, clearly articulated expectations and consistent classroom practices. At the same time, Gage et al. (2018) claim that the three strategies they recommend can be easily adopted by teachers, they are viewed by many as vital aspects of instruction, and they are utilized in many intervention programs (e.g. Good Behavior Game).

The three classroom management strategies discussed above have been studied empirically as well. For example, in a study of 1,242 teacher-student pairs from 65 elementary schools across several school districts in a southeastern state of the USA, who were observed during typical classroom instruction, Gage et al. (2018) found that students were significantly less engaged in classrooms where the teacher didn't utilize the three classroom management strategies discussed above. As students' level of engagement has been shown to predict their success (Downer et al., 2007), it can be stated that successfully adopting the three classroom management strategies discussed above leads to more successful students. Unfortunately however, due to the very limited demographic information Gage et al. (2018) collected about teachers and students (only gender and minority status), they couldn't discover any common variables among teachers who had poor classroom management skills, nor could they observe any differences in these teachers' well-being or job satisfaction. Such findings would have been invaluable for the present study, without which it can only be inferred that teachers who worked in classrooms with more engaged students experienced higher levels of self-efficacy and improved overall well-being. However, such inferences are not groundless, as similar trends have been observed in other studies (e.g. J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020; Wang et al., 2020).

Discussion

4.1 The findings of this thesis

The first research question this thesis sought to shed light on was 'How can teacher well-being be conceptualized?'. The first finding related to this question was that teachers' well-being is best captured as occupational well-being, which incorporates the various aspects of their work, in all of which they experience a sense of well-being (Soini et al., 2010). In any of these areas, teachers are characterized by engagement and empowerment when their level of well-being is high and feelings of frustration or burnout when their level of well-being is low (Soini et al., 2010). Several studies were cited (Demetriou et al., 2009; O'Connor, 2008; Sutton, 2007; Sutton & Wheatley, 2003) to show that teachers' interactions with students, particularly in situations that involve classroom management, have the most formational effect on their overall occupational well-being. Secondly, teacher emotions were observed to be essential to their well-being, as teaching is an emotional enterprise (Hargreaves, 1998, 2000). These emotions were found to be largely determined by students' behavior (Hagenauer et al., 2015; Liljestrom et al., 2007; Sutton, 2007). Thirdly, the Job Demands-Resources Model (Demerouti et al., 2001) was examined. This discussion underscored the tremendous need for plentiful resources available to teachers as a prerequisite for high levels of well-being. Fourthly, the concept of job satisfaction was explored, which is closely connected to well-being (Shoshani & Eldor, 2016) and captures the extent to which a person enjoys the conditions in which they perform their work (J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020). While some samples were cited where teachers' interpersonal relationships and the disciplinary climate of the classroom were the most significant predictors of teachers' job satisfaction (J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020; Wang et al., 2020) it was also argued that comparing different samples, especially across countries remains problematic (J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020; Zieger et al., 2019). The fifth finding related to the first research question was that teachers' well-being is best understood as a collaborative learning process, in which every stakeholder present at schools has an active role to play (Soini et al., 2010). The last finding related to this research question was that promoting teacher well-being is of tremendous importance, particularly in the area of classroom management.

The second research question the present thesis sought to provide answers to was 'What kind of classroom management strategies have the potential to improve teachers' well-being?'. In

connection to this research question, the concept of classroom management was briefly explored. It was shown that the goal of classroom management is classroom order, which has four components (J. Lopes et al., 2017; J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021; Simonsen et al., 2008). If these four components of classroom order are present in the classroom, students are much less likely to engage in disruptive behaviors. Following that, various factors affecting discipline in the classroom were explored and the trend which emerged is that more immediate factors have a stronger influence on disciplinary climate in the classroom than factors which are on a wider, societal level (Glover & Coleman, 2005; J. Lopes & Oliveira, 2020; Seashore Louis & Lee, 2016). More specifically, students' academic engagement was shown to be the most signific ant predictor of their discipline in the classroom (Archambault et al., 2017; Collins et al., 2016; J. A. Lopes & Oliveira, 2021) and thus it was argued that improving the quality of teachers' instruction may be the most salient tool in improving the disciplinary climate of the classroom.

Upon examining specific classroom management strategies, proactive strategies were shown to be more effective in dealing with undesired student behaviors, as well as in improving teachers' well-being (Chunies-Ross et al., 2008). Some of the proactive strategies which were cited are praise and establishing rules in advance (Clunies-Ross et al., 2008). Furthermore, three evidence-based classroom management strategies and their effects were examined. These three are "(a) active instruction and supervision of students (i.e., teaching), (b) opportunities for students to respond, and (c) feedback to students" (Gage et al., 2018, p. 302). These three strategies have been well-researched and shown to greatly contribute to students' success in the classroom (Gage et al., 2018; Haydon et al., 2010; Haydon & Kroeger, 2016; Kern & Clemens, 2007; MacSuga-Gage & Gage, 2015; Macsuga-Gage & Simonsen, 2015; Partin et al., 2009; Sutherland et al., 2003; Williford et al., 2013). Additionally, Gage et al. (2018) claim that teachers can easily adopt these three strategies, many view them as essential components of instruction, and they are already included in many large-scale intervention programs. However, if these three practices are supported by 50 years of literature and research as Gage et al. (2018) claim, one would imagine that just about every teacher takes advantage of them. Unfortunately, in a sample of nearly 1300 teacher-student pairs in the USA, only about 20% of the teachers utilized these techniques (Gage et al., 2018). Such low figures raise serious questions about teacher training and how the findings of educational researchers can be transferred into teachers' day-to-day practice. At the same time, it is important to acknowledge that the classroom management strategies explored in this thesis are only some recognized and recommended by researchers.

The overarching, concise conclusion of this section is that teacher-student relationships, and especially disruptive behaviors by students are arguable one of the most significant, if not the most significant, factors in the formation of teachers' well-being. Fortunately, there are class-room management strategies and theoretical frameworks that essentially every teacher can utilize to make their relationships with students more fruitful and empower themselves to deal with lack of discipline in the classroom effectively and with a high level of self-efficacy. Thus, while teachers will not experience high levels of occupational well-being automatically, such a positive experience is not as elusive as many may fear.

However, given the fact that classroom management is essentially what determines whether teachers will experience high levels of job satisfaction or will be frustrated, experience burnout, and potentially leave the profession, I believe classroom management should be given much greater significance in teacher training. Lopes et al. (2017), for instance, found that 60% of their 2905 teacher participants received no training in classroom discipline strategies or classroom management. Meanwhile, 90% of the participants asserted that disciplinary problems worsened in the previous five years. Similarly, Hagenauer et al. (2015) observe that "instructional strategies that aim at fostering the interpersonal TSR *[teacher-student relationship, added by the author of this thesis]* have been largely overlooked in teacher education curricula" (p. 398).

Furthermore, they add that teachers' ability establish good connections with students should be included in teacher training (Hagenauer et al., 2015). Based on what I have learnt through writing this thesis and based on my personal experience as a pre-service teacher, I very much agree with them.

4.2 Evaluation of the thesis and the writing process

I chose teacher well-being and classroom management as the main foci of my thesis because I saw a strong connection between the two in my personal experiences as a student and as a teacher. However, I was not aware of how well the connection between the two has already been researched and how much disruptive behaviors in the classroom are the dealbreaker for teacher well-being. I approached the writing process with an eager desire to learn about effective classroom management strategies, but I considered the topic of teacher well-being is not nearly as intriguing or complex. I almost saw having to write about teacher well-being as a necessary evil, if you will, in exploring effective classroom management strategies. I did not

think that teacher well-being was such a multi-faceted, complex phenomena as I have discovered it to be during the writing process. Yet, I believe I only began to scratch the surface of what has already been conceptualized and researched about teacher well-being. Similarly, when I began researching classroom management strategies, I was just hoping I may find some that have already been researched. I was very positively surprised at the wealth of information available on concrete, pragmatic classroom management strategies that have been well-researched and shown to "work". In the end, my views on teacher well-being changed in the sense that I now realize how complex of a concept it is, while my understanding of classroom management was more enriched than change. This is primarily due to my complete lack of knowledge on the subject prior to the writing of this thesis. I have also significantly improved my reading comprehension of scientific articles, which I believe will come very handy during my master's studies.

4.3 Future research

The possibilities for future research based on the topics and findings of the present thesis are virtually endless. For example, researchers could examine the use of specific classroom management strategies and pair them with teachers' well-being. In other words, researchers could on one hand observe how frequently teachers utilize a specific classroom management strategy (for example, opportunities to respond). On the other hand, they could measure the well-being of teachers who participate in the study. Then, they could look for correlations between certain classroom management strategies and teachers' well-being. It would be very interesting to see if there are any strategies that predict a higher level of well-being for teachers. While it seems more apparent to conduct a study like this quantitatively, I would also be very interested to add the benefits of a qualitative study to it. Based on the findings of this thesis, it appears to me that well-being is a very personal, and subjective concept, thus I suppose it might be better captured through qualitative research. Another idea for future research is related to the Job Demands-Resources Model. Disruptive student behaviors would be the job demand under investigation, while several resources could be tested, including professional development and participation in support systems, which have already been studied by Simbula et al. (2012). It would be interesting to see how many clusters emerge as different levels of these job resource and job demands are combined, and also what the different clusters are like, whether they will be like those theorized by Demerouti et al. (2001) or like those described by Simbula et al. (2012).

Having made some suggestions for future research, the closing remark I would like to make is that I would definitely like to continue on to my master's thesis with the topics of this thesis.

References:

- Aldridge, J. M., McChesney, K., & Afari, E. (2018). Relationships between school climate, bullying and delinquent behaviours. *Learning Environments Research*, 21(2), 153–172. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-017-9249-6
- Archambault, I., Vandenbossche-Makombo, J., & Fraser, S. L. (2017). Students' Oppositional Behaviors and Engagement in School: The Differential Role of the Student-Teacher Relationship. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 26(6), 1702–1712. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0691-y
- Bakker, A. B. (2011). An Evidence-Based Model of Work Engagement. *Psychological Science*, 20(4), 265–269. https://doi.org/10.1177/096372141
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The Job Demands-Resources model: State of the art. In *Journal of Managerial Psychology* (Vol. 22, Issue 3, pp. 309–328). https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940710733115
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., de Boer, E., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2003). Job demand and job resources as predictors of absence duration and frequency. In *Journal of Vocational Behavior* (Vol. 62, Issue 2, pp. 341–356). Academic Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8791(02)00030-1
- Bakker, A. B., Hakanen, J. J., Demerouti, E., & Xanthopoulou, D. (2007). Job resources boost work engagement, particularly when job demands are high. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(2), 274–284. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.2.274
- Bakker, A. B., & Derks, D. (2010). Positive Occupational Health Psychology. In S. Leka, & J. Houdmont (Eds.), *Occupational health psychology: a key text*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The Need to Belong: Desire for Interpersonal Attachments as a Fundamental Human Motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 117(3), 497–529. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Beaman, R., & Wheldall, K. (2000). Teachers' Use of Approval and Disapproval in the Classroom. *Educational Psychology*, 20(4), 431–446. https://doi.org/10.1080/713663753
- Becker, E. S., Goetz, T., Morger, V., & Ranellucci, J. (2014). The importance of teachers' emotions and instructional behavior for their students' emotions An experience sampling

analysis. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 43, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2014.05.002

- Berger, J. L., Girardet, C., Vaudroz, C., & Crahay, M. (2018). Teaching Experience, Teachers' Beliefs, and Self-Reported Classroom Management Practices: A Coherent Network. SAGE Open, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244017754119
- Brackett, M. A., Floman, J. L., Ashton-James, C., Cherkasskiy, L., & Salovey, P. (2013). The influence of teacher emotion on grading practices: a preliminary look at the evaluation of student writing. *Teachers and Teaching*, 19(6), 634–646. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2013.827453
- Chang, M. L. (2013). Toward a theoretical model to understand teacher emotions and teacher burnout in the context of student misbehavior: Appraisal, regulation and coping. *Motivation and Emotion*, 37(4), 799–817. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-012-9335-0
- Chang, M.-L., & Davis, H. A. (2011). Understanding the role of teacher appraisals in shaping the dynamics of their relationships with students: deconstructing teachers' judgments of disruptive behavior/students. In P. A. Schutz & M. Zembylas (Eds.), *Advances in teacher emotion research* (pp. 95–127). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Chirkina, T. A., & Khavenson, T. E. (2018). School Climate. *Russian Education & Society*, 60(2), 133–160. https://doi.org/10.1080/10609393.2018.1451189
- Clunies-Ross, P., Little, E., & Kienhuis, M. (2008). Self-reported and actual use of proactive and reactive classroom management strategies and their relationship with teacher stress and student behaviour. *Educational Psychology*, 28(6), 693–710. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410802206700
- Collins, T. A., Cook, C. R., Dart, E. H., Socie, D. G., Renshaw, T. L., & Long, A. C. (2016). Improving classroom engagement among high school students with disruptive behavior: Evaluation of the class pass intervention. *Psychology in the Schools*, 53(2), 204–219. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.21893
- Conroy, M. A., Alter, P. J., & Sutherland, K. S. (2014). Classroom-based research in the field of EBD: Future research directions. In P. Garner (Ed.), *The SAGE handbook of emotional* and behavioral difficulties (pp. 465–477). London, England: SAGE.

- Day, C., & Gu, Q. (2014). Resilient Teachers, Resilient Schools: Building and sustaining quality in testing times. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203578490
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. Plenum Press.
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A. B., Nachreiner, F., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). The Job Demands-Resources Model of Burnout. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(3), 499–512. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- Demetriou, H., Wilson, E., & Winterbottom, M. (2009). The role of emotion in teaching: Are there differences between male and female newly qualified teachers' approaches to teaching? *Educational Studies*, 35(4), 449–473. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055690902876552
- Dorman, J. P. (2003). Testing a model for teacher burnout. *Australian Journal of Educational & Developmental Psychology*, 3(2003), 35–47.
- Emmer, E. T., & Stough, L. M. (2001). Classroom management: A critical part of educational psychology, with implications for teacher education. *Educational Psychologist*, 36(2), 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3602_5
- Evers, W., Tomic, W., & Brouwers, A. (2004). Burnout among Teachers: Students' and Teachers' Perceptions Compared. School Psychology International, 25(2), 131–148. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034304043670
- Fatou, N., & Kubiszewski, V. (2018). Are perceived school climate dimensions predictive of students' engagement? Social Psychology of Education, 21(2), 427–446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-017-9422-x
- Fidler, P. (2002). The Relationship Between Teacher Instructional Techniques and Characteristics and Student Achievement in Reduced Size Classes.
- Fischer, A. H. (2007). Emotional contagion. In R. F. Baumeister & K. D. Vohs (Eds.), *Ency-clopedia of social psychology* (pp. 291–293). Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Frenzel, A. C., Goetz, T., Lüdtke, O., Pekrun, R., & Sutton, R. E. (2009). Emotional Transmission in the Classroom: Exploring the Relationship Between Teacher and Student Enjoyment. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 101(3), 705–716. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014695

- Frenzel, A. C., Goetz, T., Stephens, E. J., & Jacob, B. (2011). Antecedents and effects of teachers' emotional experiences: an integrated perspective and empirical test. In P. A. Schutz & M. Zembylas (Eds.), Advances in teacher emotion research (pp. 129–151). Heidelberg: Springer.
- Friedman, I. A. (2006). Classroom management and teacher stress and burnout. In: C. M. Evertson & C. S. Weinstein (Eds.), *Handbook of classroom management. Research, practice, and contemporary issues* (pp. 925–44). Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Gage, N. A., Scott, T., Hirn, R., & Macsuga-Gage, A. S. (2018). The relationship between teachers' implementation of classroom management practices and student behavior in elementary school. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43(2), 302–315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742917714809
- Glover, D., & Coleman, M. (2005). School culture, climate and ethos: interchangeable or distinctive concepts? *Journal of In-Service Education*, 31(2), 251–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/13674580500200359
- Griffith, J., Steptoe, A., & Cropley, M. (1999). An investigation of coping strategies associated with job stress in teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 69, 517. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/investigation-coping-strategies-associatedwith/docview/216967447/se-2?accountid=13031
- Hagenauer, G., Hascher, T., & Volet, S. E. (2015). Teacher emotions in the classroom: associations with students' engagement, classroom discipline and the interpersonal teacher-student relationship. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 30(4), 385–403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-015-0250-0
- Hakanen, J. J., Bakker, A. B., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2006). Burnout and work engagement among teachers. *Journal of School Psychology*, 43(6), 495–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2005.11.001
- Hargreaves, A. (1998). The emotional practice of teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 14(8), 835–854. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(98)00025-0
- Hargreaves, A. (2000). Mixed emotions: teachers' perceptions of their interactions with students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 16(8), 811–826. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(00)00028-7

- Hastings, R. P., & Bham, M. S. (2003). The Relationship between Student Behaviour Patterns and Teacher Burnout. *School Psychology International*, 24(1), 115–127. http://pc124152.oulu.fi:8080/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ662425&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Haydon, T., Conroy, M. A., Scott, T. M., Sindelar, P. T., Barber, B. R., & Orlando, A. M. (2010). A comparison of three types of opportunities to respond on student academic and social behaviors. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 18(1), 27–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426609333448
- Haydon, T., & Kroeger, S. D. (2016). Active supervision, precorrection, and explicit timing: A high school case study on classroom behavior. *Preventing School Failure*, 60(1), 70–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2014.977213
- Infantino, J., & Little, E. (2005). Students' perceptions of classroom behaviour problems and the effectiveness of different disciplinary methods. In *Educational Psychology* (Vol. 25, Issue 5, pp. 491–508). https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410500046549
- Ingersoll, R. M., & Collins, G. J. (2017). Accountability and control in American schools*. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 49(1), 75–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2016.1205142
- Kayikçi, K. (2011). Classroom discipline: Discipline strategies, preventing student misbehaviors and research on student misbehaviors in the classroom. In R. J. Newley (Ed.), *Classrooms: Management, effectiveness and challenges* (pp. 187–220). New York: Nova Science Publishers Inc.
- Kern, L., & Clemens, N. H. (2007). Antecedent strategies to promote appropriate classroom behavior. *Psychology in the Schools*, 44(1), 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20206
- Kokkinos, C. M. (2007). Job stressors, personality and burnout in primary school teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(1), 229–243. http://pc124152.oulu.fi:8080/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=asn&AN=24519638&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Kunter, M., Frenzel, A., Nagy, G., Baumert, J., & Pekrun, R. (2011). Teacher enthusiasm: Dimensionality and context specificity. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(4), 289– 301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2011.07.001

- Kyriacou, C. (2001). Teacher stress: Directions for future research. *Educational Review*, 53(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131910120033628
- Lewis, R., Romi, S., Katz, Y. J., & Qui, X. (2008). Students' reaction to classroom discipline in Australia, Israel, and China. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(3), 715–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.05.003
- Lewis, R., Romi, S., Qui, X., & Katz, Y. J. (2005). Teachers' classroom discipline and student misbehavior in Australia, China and Israel. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 21(6), 729– 741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2005.05.008
- Liljestrom, A., Roulston, K., & Demarrais, K. (2007). "There's No Place for Feeling Like This in the Workplace": Women Teachers' Anger in School Settings. In P. Schutz & R. Pekrun (Eds.), *Emotion in Education* (pp. 275-291). Academic Press.
- Little, E., Hudson, A., & Wilks, R. (2002). The efficacy of written teacher advice (Tip sheets) for managing classroom behaviour problems. *Educational Psychology*, 22(3), 251–266. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410220138494
- Lopes, J. A., & Oliveira, C. (2021). Teacher and school determinants of perceived classroom discipline: a multilevel analysis of TALIS 2013. *Learning Environments Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-021-09348-z
- Lopes, J., & Oliveira, C. (2020). Teacher and school determinants of teacher job satisfaction: a multilevel analysis. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 31(4), 641–659. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2020.1764593
- Lopes, J., Silva, E., Oliveira, C., Sass, D., & Martin, N. (2017). Teacher's classroom management behavior and students' classroom misbehavior: A study with 5th through 9th- grade students. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, 15(3), 467–490. https://doi.org/10.14204/ejrep.43.17075
- MacSuga-Gage, A. S., & Gage, N. A. (2015). Student-Level Effects of Increased Teacher-Directed Opportunities to Respond. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 24(3), 273–288. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-015-9223-2

- Macsuga-Gage, A. S., & Simonsen, B. (2015). Examining the Effects of Teacher-Directed Opportunities to Respond on Student Outcomes: A Systematic Review of the Literature. In EDUCATION AND TREATMENT OF CHILDREN (Vol. 38, Issue 2). www.pbis.org
- McCarthy, C. J., Lineback, S., & Reiser, J. (2015). Teacher stress, emotion, and classroom management. In E. T. Emmer & E. J. Sabornie (Eds.), *Handbook of classroom management* (2nd ed., pp. 301–321). New York: Routledge.
- Nelson, J. R., Benner, G. J., Lane, K., & Smith, B. W. (2004). Academic Achievement of K-12 Students With Emotional and Behavioral Disorders. *Exceptional Children*, 71(1), 59–73. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/academic-achievement-k-12-students-withemotional/docview/201093980/se-2
- Nelson, J. R., & Roberts, M. L. (2000). Ongoing reciprocal teacher-student interactions involving disruptive behaviors in general education classrooms. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 8(1), 27. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/106342660000800104
- O'Connor, K. E. (2008). "You choose to care": Teachers, emotions and professional identity. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(1), 117–126. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.11.008
- OECD. (2014). TALIS 2013 results: An international perspective on teaching and learning. Paris: OECD.
- Partin, T. C. M., Robertson, R. E., Maggin, D. M., Oliver, R. M., & Wehby, J. H. (2009). Using Teacher Praise and Opportunities to Respond to Promote Appropriate Student Behavior. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 54(3), 172– 178. https://doi.org/10.1080/10459880903493179
- Pepe, A., Addimando, L., & Veronese, G. (2017). Measuring teacher job satisfaction: Assessing invariance in the teacher job satisfaction scale (TJSS) across six countries. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, 13(3), 396–416. https://doi.org/10.5964/ejop.v13i3.1389
- Pianta, R. C., Hamre, B. K., & Allen, J. P. (2012). Teacher-student relationships and engagement: Conceptualizing, measuring, and improving the capacity of classroom interactions. In S. L. Christenson, A. L. Reschly, & C. Wylie (Eds.), *Handbook of research on student engagement* (pp. 365–386). New York, NY: Springer.

- Postareff, L., & Lindblom-Ylänne, S. (2011). Emotions and confidence within teaching in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 36(7), 799–813. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2010.483279
- Riley, P., Lewis, R., & Wang, B. (2012). Investigating teachers' explanations for aggressive classroom discipline strategies in China and Australia. *Educational Psychology*, 32(3), 389–403. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2012.662151
- Roth, G., Assor, A., Kanat-Maymon, Y., & Kaplan, H. (2007). Autonomous Motivation for Teaching: How Self-Determined Teaching May Lead to Self-Determined Learning. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(4), 761–774. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.4.761
- Ruiz, L. D., McMahon, S. D., & Jason, L. A. (2018). The Role of Neighborhood Context and School Climate in School-Level Academic Achievement. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 61(3/4), 296–309. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12234
- Sadik, F., & Akbulut, T. (2015). An Evaluation of Classroom Management Skills of Teachers at High Schools (Sample from the City of Adana). *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 191, 208–213. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.04.539
- Safran, S. P., & Oswald, K. (2003). Positive Behavior Supports: Can Schools Reshape Disciplinary Practices? *Exceptional Children*, 69(3), 361–373. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290306900307
- Santavirta, N., Solovieva, S., & Theorell, T. (2007). The association between job strain and emotional exhaustion in a cohort of 1,028 Finnish teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(1), 213–228. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709905X92045
- Scheerens, J., & Blömeke, S. (2016). Integrating teacher education effectiveness research into educational effectiveness models. *Educational Research Review*, 18, 70–87. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2016.03.002
- Seashore Louis, K., & Lee, M. (2016). Teachers' capacity for organizational learning: the effects of school culture and context. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 27(4), 534–556. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2016.1189437

- Shoshani, A., & Eldor, L. (2016). The informal learning of teachers: Learning climate, job satisfaction and teachers' and students' motivation and well-being. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 79, 52–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2016.06.007
- Simbula, S., Panari, C., Guglielmi, D., & Fraccaroli, F. (2012). Teachers' Well-being and Effectiveness: The Role of the Interplay between Job Demands and Job Resources. *Procedia* Social and Behavioral Sciences, 69, 729–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.11.467
- Simonsen, B., Fairbanks, S., Briesch, A., Myers, D., & Sugai, G. (2008). Evidence-based Practices in Classroom Management: Considerations for Research to Practice. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 31(3), 351–380. http://www.jstor.org.pc124152.oulu.fi:8080/stable/42899983
- Soini, T., Pyhältö, K., & Pietarinen, J. (2010). Pedagogical well-being: Reflecting learning and well-being in teachers' work. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 16(6), 735– 751. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2010.517690
- Stoeber, J., & Rennert, D. (2008). Perfectionism in school teachers: Relations with stress appraisals, coping styles, and burnout. *Anxiety, Stress and Coping*, 21(1), 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615800701742461
- Stronge, J. H., Ward, T. J., & Grant, L. W. (2011). What makes good teachers good?: A crosscase analysis of the connection between teacher effectiveness and student achievement. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 62(4), 339–355. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487111404241
- Stronge, J. H., Ward, T. J., Tucker, P. D., & Hindman, J. L. (2007). What is the Relationship Between Teacher Quality and Student Achievement? An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*, 20(3–4), 165–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11092-008-9053-z
- Sulak, T. N. (2018). School climate: the controllable and the uncontrollable. *Educational Studies*, 44(3), 279–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2017.1373630
- Sutherland, K. S., Alder, N., & Gunter, P. L. (2003). The Effect of Varying Rates of Opportunities to Respond to Academic Requests on the Classroom Behavior of Students with

EBD. Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders, 11(4), 239–248. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266030110040501

- Sutherland, K. S., Lewis-Palmer, T., Stichter, J., & Morgan, P. L. (2008). Examining the influence of teacher behavior and classroom context on the behavioral and academic outcomes for students with emotional or behavioral disorders. *Journal of Special Education*, 41(4), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466907310372
- Sutton, R. E. (2007). Teachers' anger, frustration, and self-regulation. In P. A. Schutz & R. Pekrun (Eds.), *Emotion in education* (pp. 259–274). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Sutton, R. E., & Wheatley, K. F. (2003). Teachers' Emotions and Teaching: A Review of the Literature and Directions for Future Research. *Educational Psychology Review*, 15(4), 327–358. http://www.jstor.org.pc124152.oulu.fi:8080/stable/23361540
- Trigwell, K. (2012). Relations between teachers' emotions in teaching and their approaches to teaching in higher education. *Instructional Science*, 40(3), 607–621. http://www.jstor.org.pc124152.oulu.fi:8080/stable/43574703
- Tsouloupas, C. N., Carson, R. L., Matthews, R., Grawitch, M. J., & Barber, L. K. (2010). Exploring the association between teachers' perceived student misbehaviour and emotional exhaustion: The importance of teacher efficacy beliefs and emotion regulation. *Educational Psychology*, 30(2), 173–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410903494460
- van Horn, J. E., Schaufeli, W. B., & Enzmann, D. (1999). Teacher Burnout and Lack of Reciprocity'. In *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* (Vol. 29).
- Wagner, M., Kutash, K., Duchnowski, A. J., Epstein, M. H., & Sumi, W. C. (2005). The Children and Youth We Serve: A National Picture of the Characteristics of Students With Emotional Disturbances Receiving Special Education. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 13(2), 79–96. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266050130020201
- Wang, K., Li, Y., Luo, W., & Zhang, S. (2020). Selected Factors Contributing to Teacher Job Satisfaction: A Quantitative Investigation Using 2013 TALIS Data. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 19(3), 512–532. https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2019.1586963

- Westling, D. L. (2010). Teachers and Challenging Behavior: Knowledge, Views, and Practices. *Remedial and Special Education*, 31(1), 48–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932508327466
- Wettstein, A., Ramseier, E., & Scherzinger, M. (2021). Class- and subject teachers' self-efficacy and emotional stability and students' perceptions of the teacher-student relationship, classroom management, and classroom disruptions. *BMC Psychology*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-021-00606-6
- Williford, A. P., Maier, M. F., Downer, J. T., Pianta, R. C., & Howes, C. (2013). Understanding how children's engagement and teachers' interactions combine to predict school readiness. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 34(6), 299–309. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2013.05.002
- Wolff, C. E., van den Bogert, N., Jarodzka, H., & Boshuizen, H. P. A. (2015). Keeping an Eye on Learning: Differences Between Expert and Novice Teachers' Representations of Classroom Management Events. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 66(1), 68–85. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487114549810
- Xanthopoulou, D., Bakker, A. B., Dollard, M. F., Demerouti, E., Schaufeli, W. B., Taris, T. W., & Schreurs, P. J. G. (2007). When do job demands particularly predict burnout? The moderating role of job resources. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22(8), 766–786. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940710837714
- Zieger, L., Sims, S. & Jerrim, J. (2019). Comparing teachers' job satisfaction across countries. A mul- tiple-pairwise measurement invariance approach. *Educational Measurement: Is-sues and Practice*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/emip.12254